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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT gg%ﬁﬁgm
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK « || ELECTRONICALLY FILED
DOC #:
ARNOLD EUGENE RODGERS DATE FILED: June 11, 2020
Petitioner,
| 18-CV-11244KMW)
-against- 11-CR-117 (KMW)
OPINION & ORDER
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Respondent.
________________________________________________________ X

KIMBA M. WOOD, United State®istrict Judge:

Arnold Eugene Rodge(sPetitioner”) petitionspro se for awrit of error coram nobis
under the All Writs Act, 28 U.S.C. § 1634ased orhis attorney’s allegedlyneffective
assistance For the reasons that follow, the Petition is DENIED.

BACKGROUND

A. Charged Conduct

Before his arrest in this cadeetitioner was aupervisingongshoreman at the Port of
New York-New Jersey. In May of 2010, a cooperating witness working with the Drug
Enforcement Administration (DEA) identified Petitioner gsoasibleparticipant in the
trafficking of heroin through the Port several years earliThe DEA then began investigating
whether Petitionemay have retained role inongoing drug operations Using phone records,
the DEAdeterminedhat Petitioner was in contact with individuals involved in heroin
trafficking.

On July 31, 2010, Petitioner agreed to provide the coopemaiingss with a firearm.
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Petitioner drove himself and tlteoperatingvitnessto a house in New Jersey. Petitioner went
inside with the cooperating witness’s money and returned v8thith andWessor® millimeter
handgun and several bullets, which he gave to the coopenatitess.

On February 7, 2011, Petitioner was indicted on four counts for his role in a narcotics
conspiracy. (Indictment, ECF No. 141.)Counts One and Two of the Indictment charged
Petitionerwith conspiring with others to traffic heroin and cocaine in violation of 21 U.S.C. 8§
812, 841(a), 841(b)(1)(A), and 963.1d.) Count Three charged Petitioner witie substantive
offense ofcocainerafficking. Count Four charged Petitioner with violating the Travel Act, 18
U.S.C. 88 1952(a)(1) and (3), in connection wiith narcotics trafficking. (1d.)

B. Guilty Plea and Sentencing

On July 25, 2012, pursuant to a plea agreement, Petitioner pleaded guilty before
Magistrate Judg&abriel Gorensteito a Superseding Information charging him with one count
of violating 18 U.S.C. 8 924(b) (“Section 924(b)")(Petition(“Pet.”),” Ex. 2, Civil ECF No. 2)
Specifically, theSuperseding Information charged that Petitioner, “with knowledge and
reasonable cause to believe that an offense punishable by imprisonment foexctzding one
year was to be committed therewith, did transport and receive a firearrarstate commerce,
to wit, a Smith and Wesson 9 mm handgun and 54 rounds of 9 mm ammunitiah)” (
Through the Plea Agreement, Petitioner waived his right te &itlirect appeal” or “bring a
collateral challenge” to his sentence or conviction so long as the imposed sentenddivwas w

below a stipulated Guidelines range of 18 to 24 months’ imprisonment. (PleanfegreECF

1 Citationsin the form of “ECF No.” refer to the electronic docket assed with Petitioner’s criminal caskl-
CR-117. Citations in the form of “Civil ECF No.” refer to theectronic docket associated with the present
petition,18-CV-11244



No. 5341 at 4.)

At the plea hearingheGovernment represented thdi}f the case were to proceed to
trial, the government would establish the defendant’s guilt through records shogvimigih of
the firearm he did possess, [and] testimony from a cooperating withess abouptise dar
which the defendant sold the firearm to the cooperating witness, which would be caetlbyra
evidence obtained from, among other things, a body wire at the time.” (Pleadkfdsl?2,
Pet. Ex. 1.)

Petitionerthenset forth the factual basis for his guilty plegld at 12.) Peitioner
stated that he “gave a guy, James Sutton [the cooperating witness], a gun with $ets\eabdl
he was using it to take it to New York to trade for cocaineld.) ( Hefurther explained“when
| gave the gun to James Sutton, | was under the assumption that he was going to use it for
cocaine. Yeabh, it was given to a third party that went back and gave it to him.) (
Clarifying the role of the third party, Petitiorstated “| gave it to one person. He gave it to
another person, but he tolcerthat it was going that he was doing some kind of drug business.”
(Id. at 13.) Judge Gorenstein asked, “The third person was going to use it to help hathself s
cocaine?” to which Petitioner answertidbelieve so.” (d.) Judge Gorenstein concluditht
Petitioner understood the nature of the charges, that the plea was voluntary, dretdleatisted
a factual basis for the plea(ld. at 14-15.)

On April 3, 2013, the Court sentenced petitionet&months’ imprisonment, to be
followed by two yars of supervised release(Judgment, ECF No. 51.) On April 19, 2013,
Petitioner sought resentencing, arguing that the Court erred in denying Pestregeest for a
“variance” from the Sentencing Guidelines based on his minor role in the offense
(Resentencing Motion, ECF No. 52.) The Court rejected his request for racsegietating

that “[a]ny need for a variance from the Sentencing Guidelines was mooted bytthé&&ang”



already granted at sentencing a “féevel downward adjustmentdtthe offense level. (Order
Denying Resentencing, ECF No. 54.)

Petitioner completed his sentence of incarceration on July 11, 2014 and his term of
supervised release on July 10, 2016.

C. ThePetition

Roughly two years and four months after Petitioner completed his term of sugervise
release, on November 30, 2018, he filed the prgserse petition, through which he seeks to
vacate his conviction on the ground of ineffective assistance of couide. Government
submitted its opposition to the petition on February 15, 2019. (Gov. Ogiil. ECF No. 8.)
Petitioner submitted a reply on April 3, 2019; the Court received a second copy of the reply on
May 17, 2019. (RephCivil ECF Nos. 10, 13.)

LEGAL STANDARD

A petition for a writ of errocoram nobis provides a person who is not in custody a
mechanism for collaterally attacking a criminal convictio@haidez v. United States, 568 U.S.

342, 345 n.1 (2013). It is known as a “remedy of last resort” for individuals who cannot pursue
direct review or collateral relief by means of a writabeas corpus. Fleming v. United Sates,
146 F.3d 88, 88-90 (2d Cir. 1998).

A district court may issue a writ of errooram nobis where “extraordinary circumstances
are present.” Nicksv. United States, 955 F.2d 161, 167 (2d Cir. 1992)Coram nobisis not a
substitute for appeal, and relief under the writ is limited to those oasdsch “errors . . . of the
most fundamental character” have rendered “the proceeding itself iregdlianvalid.” Foont
v. United Sates, 93 F.3d 76, 78 (2d Cir. 1996) (quotibgited Statesv. Carter, 437 F.2d 444,

445 (5th Cir.)). The proceedings leading to the petitioner's convidienpresumed to be



correct and ‘the burden rests on the accused to show othetwiddnited Satesv. Morgan, 346
U.S. 502, 512 (1954).

To carry this burden, a petitioner seekaogam nobis relief mustestablishthree
conditions. The petitioner mustrdenstrate 1) that there arécircumstances compelling such
action to achieve justi¢geMorgan, 346 U.S. at 511; (2hat“sound reasons exist [] for failure to
seek appropriate earlier reliefd. at 512; andJ) that the petitionetcontinues to suffer legal
consequences from his conviction that may be remedied by granting of the\Wwakt,”955 F.2d
at 167.

Becauseriminal defendantenjoya Sixth Amendment right to counsaldefense
attorney’sineffective assistance can constitute compelling circumstances to wanmamtnobis
relief. Kovacsv. United Sates, 744 F.3d 44, 49 (2d Cir. 2014 A petitionerseekingcoram
nobis relief based omneffective assistance of counselist satisfy th&rickland test. Id.
UnderSrickland v. Washington, a petitioner demonstrates ineffective assistance by proving (1)
thatdefense counsel’s performance was objectively unnede, based on prevailing
professional normsand(2) thatthe deficient performance prejudiced the defeng6 U.S.
668, 68788 (1984).

With regard to the first prong, “a reviewing court must indulge a strong presumtlpéit
counsel’s conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistasnited
Satesv. Gaskin, 364 F.3d 438, 468 (2d Cir. 2004) (quotiBgckland, 466 U.S. at 689) In this
way, ‘[jJudicial scrutiny of counsel’s performance must be highly deferentightickland, 466
U.S. at 689. The Court’s review “requires that g\edffort be made to eliminate the distorting
effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsellsrded conduct, and to
evaluate the conduct from counsel’'s perspective at the tinid.”

To establishithesecom prong of theStrickland test,apetitionermustshowa“reasonable



probability” that,but for counsel’serrors,theresultof the proceedings would haleen
different. 1d. at694. “A reasonabl@robabilityis a probabilitysufficientto undermine
confidencen the outcome.” Id.

If a petitioneiis unableto demonstratéhat his attorney’performancevasinadequate,
the Courtneednot address thissueof prejudice,and viceversa. “[T]hereis noreasorfor a
court decidinganineffectiveassistancelaimto . . .addressoth components of the inquiifythe
defendanmakesaninsufficientshowing on one.” Id. at 697.

DISCUSSION

Petitioner seeksoram nobis relief on the ground that his attorney was constitutionally
deficient. Petitioner contends that his attorney failed to investigate the “essentieingseof
the offense of 18 U.S.C. § 924(b),” to which Petitioner pleaded guilty, “as it pertained to
interstate commerce.” (Pet. at 16 $pecifically, his attorney should have advised him—and
argued—thathe could not have been found guilty of that offense in ligttrofed Sates v.
Havelock, a 2008 decision issued by a district court in the District of Arizoteapreting Section
924(b)’s interstate commerce requiremenfd.); see United Sates v. Havelock, 560 F. Supp. 2d
828 (D. Ariz. 2008)Silver, C.J). Petitioner also asserts that his attorney should have objected
to the Government’s “erroneous description” of Section 924(b)’s intersiatmerce
requirement. 1@.) The Government disputes these substantive allegations arat@ssthat
Petitioner’s claims are barred on timeliness grounds.

In Havel ock, the district court held that Section 924(b) does not apply to the receipt of a
firearm that is “entirely intrstate in nature.” Havelock, 560 F. Supp. 2d at 831, 834. There, the
defendant was charged with violating Section 924(b) for purchasing a rifle ionanzith the

intent to use it in Arizona. Id. at 829. The Government argued that the defendant’s conduct



satisfied the interstate commerce requirement because the gun had traveledateinters
commerce at some point prior to defendant’s purchase.

In rejectingthe Government’s position, thtavelock court recognized th&ection 924(b)
differs in a grammatically significant way frob8 U.S.C. § 922(f), a provisienacted alongside
Section 924(b) as part of Title IV of the Omnibus Crime Control and Safd<S#teteof 1968,
Pub. L. No. 90-351 (1968) Section 922(flnakesit unlawful for anyone under indictment or
convicted of a felony “to receive any firearm or ammunitiich has been shipped or
transported in interstate or foreign commercerhphasiadded). By contrast, in Section
924(b), Congressriminalized in rdevant part, receiving “a firearm or any ammunitian
interstate or foreign commerceeniphasisadded). Thus, unlike in Section 992(f), in Section
924(b) ‘the proscribed act and the interstatenmerce reference are in the present tense,
denoting that the acts are contemporaneoubatis, the “receipt is part of the interstate
movement.” Havelock, 560 F. Supp. 2d at 832.

Compelling as this analysis may, liteis not binding in the Second CircuifThis Circuit
has not defined the precise contours of the conducstifiates to satisfysection 924(b)’s
interstate commerce requireméntHavelock had been cited by no other court at the time of
Petitioner’s guilty plea, and has been cited only agriicee See United Satesv. Gassew, 519 F.
App’x 764, 766-67 (3d Cir. 2013) (rejecting DefendAmpipellant’s reliance oravelock in
evaluatingthe Hobbs Act’s interstate commerce requirement). i@tits counsel did not

render ineffective assistance “by failing to raise an argument that would have-dredstill is,

2 One court in this Circuit has determined that Section 924(b) “includes the reguireha
caseby-case showing of a nexus between the intrastate activity and interstate corhmerce
United Satesv. Taylor, 897 F. Supp. 1500, 1505 (D. Conn. 1995).



in this Circuit—a novel argument.” Trudeau v. United Sates, 16-CV-273, 2013 U.S. Dist.
LEXIS 206228, at *15 (D. Conn. Apr. 13, 2017)

Moreover, even iHavelock had any precedential value, its facts are distinguistzatale
the rulePetitionerderives from it would not necessarily exclude his conduct from the scope of
Section 924(b). BecausdHavelock involved a defendant’s receipt and use of a gun within
Arizona, the Governmein that caseould establish a 924(b) violation only if the gun’s previous
movement—such as from the place of manufacture to the place cfsap/edo establish an
interstatecommerce nexus. Here, by contrast, Petitioeegiveda gun in New Jersey for use in
New York. Unlike inHavelock, this set of factdears “some contemporaneous link to interstate
commerce” ands not “entirely intrastate in natufe Havelock, 560 F. Supp. at 8331In
addition,whereadHavelock involved only the receipt of a firearm, this case involved both receipt
andtransport—anadditional and alternativelement ofSection 924(bhot addresseth
Havel ock.

Defense counsel’s performance was objectively reasonable. Defense counsel was not
ineffective for failing to inform his clientr to argue that a single out-gistrict trial court, in a
non-binding opinion based on distinguishable facts, took a vievstattatory equirement that, if
applied inPetitioner'scase, may or magothaveundercut the factual predicate of the offense to
which Petitionerpleaded guilty. Because the Court finds that Petitioner’s attorney acted within
the wide range of professially competent assistancedides noseparately address the issue of
prejudice.

Petitioner has not established a colorable claim of ineffective assistance of codnsel an
therefore the Court lacks a basis to graotam nobisrelief. SeeFoont, 93 F.3d at 79. The
Court need not consider whether sound reasons exist for Petititaiker's to seek appropriate

earlier relief. Kyemv. United Sates, No. 00CV-1643, 2000 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 4607, at *9



(S.D.N.Y. Apr. 11, 2000) (Baer, J.).
CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the petition for a wrigiwbrcoram nobisis DENIED.

SO ORDERED.

Dated:New York, New York
June 11, 2020 /s/ Kimba M. Wood

KIMBA M. WOOD
United States District Judge



